
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

Tuesday, 1 November 2016 at 6.00 pm

Civic Suite, Solihull

Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 
Panel 

Public Document Pack



Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do?

 (a) You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of 
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council.

(b) When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, Sub-
Committee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must:

 Declare the interest if you have not already registered it

 Not participate in any discussion or vote

 Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with

 Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the meeting

(c) If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your 
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest 
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for 
another person or body to deal with the matter.

Disclosable Interest Description

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you 
or your partner.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council) 
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election 
expenses.

Contracts Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or 
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you 
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income.

Licences Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the Council for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the Council; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or 
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities 
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where—

(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
Council; and
(b) either—

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class.

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society.



SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN 
BOROUGH COUNCIL

To:
Councillors Mrs D Holl-Allen MBE, 
A Mackenzie, B Holmes, M Wilson and 
T Ludlow

NICK PAGE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Council House, Manor Square
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB
Tel. 0121-704 6000 

Democratic Services
Tel: 0121 704 6050
Email: lstevens@solihull.gov.uk

Date Monday, 24 October 2016

CRIME AND DISORDER SCRUTINY PANEL - Tuesday, 1 November 2016

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTIONS 

To receive notification of apologies and substitutions from Members.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive notification of any declarations of pecuniary and/or conflict of interest 
from Members.

3. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS 

To answer questions and hear deputations, if any, asked by any resident of the 
Borough pursuant to Standing Orders.

4. MINUTES (Pages 5 - 8)

To receive for information only and where applicable, the minutes of the 
previous meeting.

5. RESTORATIVE JUSTICE IN THE WEST MIDLANDS (Pages 9 - 32)

This report sets out how Restorative Justice (RJ) is being delivered in the West 
Midlands. It also details how RJ activities provide opportunities for victims to be 
heard and to have a say in the resolution of offences.

Inspector Paul Foster, from the West Midlands Police Offender Management 
Team, will be in attendance for this item.





CRIME AND DISORDER SCRUTINY PANEL – 2 AUGUST 2016

CRIME AND DISORDER SCRUTINY PANEL

2 AUGUST 2016

MINUTES 
Present Councillors Mrs D Holl-Allen MBE (Chairman), A Insley (substitute), B 

Holmes, T Ludlow and M McLoughlin (substitute). 
Apologies:
Councillors A Mackenzie and M Wilson
Officers in attendance: 
Joseph Bright (Solihull MBC, Resources Directorate).
Report authors/witnesses in attendance: 
Jim Harte (Assistant Director, Managed Growth – Solihull MBC, Managed Growth 
Directorate)
Chief Inspector Jack Hadley (West Midlands Police)
Kobina Hall (Staffordshire and Community Rehabilitation Company)
Rosie Luce (Solihull Clinical Commissioning Group)
David Smithson (West Midlands Fire Service)

1. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN AND APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIRMAN
Nominations for the election of Chairman were sought.

RESOLVED
That Councillor Mrs D Holl-Allen MBE be elected (uncontested) 
Chairman of the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel for 2016/17.

Nominations for the appointment of Vice-Chairman were sought.
RESOLVED
That Councillor Mrs A Mackenzie be appointed (uncontested) 
Vice-Chairman of the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel for 
2016/17.

2. DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest made by Members of the Panel.

3. QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS
There were no questions or deputations.

4. MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 16 March 2016 were submitted for approval.

 RESOLVED
That the minutes be agreed as a correct record. There were no 
matters arising.

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



CRIME AND DISORDER SCRUTINY PANEL – 2 AUGUST 2016

5. INDUCTION PAPER – GENERAL INTRODUCTION TO CRIME AND DISORDER 
SCRUTINY
In attendance: Joseph Bright (Solihull MBC, Resources Directorate)
A briefing paper was presented to the Panel to inform Members of their statutory role and 
responsibilities under The Police and Justice Act 2006. It was noted the focus of the Panel 
should be upon how the Responsible Authorities worked together, in particular, through the 
Safer Solihull Board. It was also emphasised the focus of Scrutiny activity, the Panel should 
focus on the strategic, cross-organisational work of the Partnership, rather than the 
operational activities of the individual Partners.

RESOLVED
The briefing paper was received and noted.

6. MEETING WITH RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITY REPRESENTATIVES
In attendance: Jim Harte (Assistant Director, Stronger Communities – Solihull MBC), Kobina 
Hall (Staffordshire and West Midlands Community Rehabilitation Company), Rosie Luce 
(Solihull Clinical Commissioning Group), David Smithson (West Midlands Fire Service) and 
Chief Inspector Jack Hadley (West Midlands Police).
The Panel received introductory presentations from each Responsible Authority Member, 
where they set out their objectives to support the Safer Solihull Partnership’s priorities over 
the coming year. The points raised during the presentations included those detailed below. 
In addition, following the presentations, there was a short question and answer session.
David Smithson (West Midlands Fire Service):

 The West Midlands Fire Service had adapted its service delivery model, in order to 
adjust to a significant reduction in funding, whilst also maintaining a 5 minute 
response time to emergencies.

 In regards to prevention and early intervention, the Fire Service had looked to 
establish a strategic partnership with the NHS, through flagging up wider issues via 
their home visits. This included helping to prevent slips and trips, as well as 
identifying wider issues, such as mental health problems and alcohol abuse, where 
they looked to sign post residents to the relevant services and support.

Kobina Hall (Staffordshire and West Midlands Community Rehabilitation Company)
 In May 2013, the Government announced its aim to transform the rehabilitation 

service. A National Probation Service was established, which focuses on higher risk 
offenders. The Staffordshire and West Midlands Community Rehabilitation Company 
(SWM CRC) was also created, which is owned by the RRP (Reducing Reoffending 
Partnership), a partnership of Ingeus, Crime Reduction Initiatives (CRI) and St Giles 
Trust, a registered charity. The SWM CRC focus was upon prolific offenders. 

 As part of the Government’s transformation of the rehabilitation service, all offenders 
released from custody were now required to receive statutory supervision and 
rehabilitation (previously, it was not a statutory requirement to provide such support 
to offenders in custody for less than 12 months).

 There have been significant changes in Probation Services within Solihull – the 
probation office at the Magistrate’s Court had been closed. A new office had been 
opened at Chelmsley Wood Police Station, which enabled SWM CRC to maintain a 
presence within the Borough and also allowed collaborative work with the Police.

 Following the introduction of a new software programme, the IT challenge the 
Probation Service faced within Solihull was considerable and they were looking to 
establish a stable IT platform. They were also facing staffing challenges, due to a 
national shortage in Probation Officers.

Chief Inspector Jack Hadley (West Midlands Police)

Page 6



CRIME AND DISORDER SCRUTINY PANEL – 2 AUGUST 2016

 West Midlands Police were focusing on over 30 projects being developed under the 
WMP2020, which would radically overhaul the way the Police operate. With 
WMP2020 there was an emphasis upon structural, as well as cultural, change.

 WMP2020 would look to change the way the public contacted the force, as well as 
how the Police responded, investigated and prevented re-offending.

 As part of the change in culture, the Police Service was placing greater emphasis 
upon earlier intervention and prevention, where they were working in closer 
collaboration with different agencies, with a focus upon reducing demand.

Rosie Luce (Solihull Clinical Commissioning Group)
 The Panel considered a paper, which provided an example of how NHS England and 

other agencies worked together, specifically to protect trafficked people.
 An anti-slavery network had been running in the West Midlands since 2009, which 

brought together representatives from the NHS and other agencies. The Network 
reported regionally and ultimately reported to the National Crime Agency.

 It was noted the paper demonstrated how the CCG was looking to establish links with 
other agencies, to flag up key issues such as human trafficking, as well as ensure 
effective partnership working and sharing of best practise.

 The National Crime Agency published statistics on the implementation of the national 
referral mechanisms, which provided a good view of working in the local region and 
could viewed via this link 
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/publications/national-referral-mechanism-
statistics  

As part of this item, the Panel was also invited to consider the proposed Work Plan for the 
coming year. In regards to timescales, Chief Inspector Hadley advised it would be best for 
the update on the Neighbourhood Policing Review, and the WMP2020 Change Programme, 
to be scheduled for the meeting in February.

RESOLVED
The Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel:
(i) Noted the presentations from the Responsible Authority Members; and
(ii) Endorsed the indicative Work Plan for the coming year.

7. SAFER SOLIHULL PARTNERSHIP
Chief Inspector Hadley presented the Safer Solihull Performance report for Quarter 1. He 
detailed how, in regards to total recorded crime, the Partnership had returned back to 1000 
crimes per month, following an anticipated spike during the winter. The points the Chief 
Inspector highlighted included the following:

 There had been further integration between the Police, Solihull Community Housing 
and the Neighbourhood Services teams to address cases of anti-social behaviour, 
with increased information sharing.

 The Partnership had worked together to address the issue of off road biking, through 
Operation Kickstart. The Police had worked with Council Officers, to focus on 
incidences where off road bikers had caused damage to the parks and properties. 
The Chief Superintendent explained how there had been two days of partnership 
action to implement warrants and 20 bikes had been seized.

 In regards to challenges, the Partnership was concerned there was a lack of 
education, training or employment placements for those know to the Youth Offending 
Team. As a consequence, the Partnership had agreed to jointly fund posts for Youth 
Promise Plus Officers.

The Chief Inspector also highlighted the following key crime statistics:

Page 7

http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/publications/national-referral-mechanism-statistics
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/publications/national-referral-mechanism-statistics


CRIME AND DISORDER SCRUTINY PANEL – 2 AUGUST 2016

 Burglary dwellings had reduced in Quarter 1, in line with seasonal trends.
 Theft from motor vehicles had fallen since March 2016, normally a high risk month for 

this crime type in Solihull. The Chief Superintendent explained how the Police and its 
Partners focused on key locations for this crime across the Borough, which included 
large hotels, as well as the Airport site.

 Public place violence with injury – this had been on an upward trend over the past 
two years; however, the rate recorded for Solihull was still the lowest of the West 
Midlands Local Authorities. The Chief Superintendent detailed how the Partnerships 
focus for this crime type was still Chelmsley Town, Smiths Wood and Solihull Town 
Centre.

In considering the report, Members queried whether there was evidence that, within recent 
months, members of ethnic minorities were at greater risk of crime. The Chief Inspector 
explained the evidence indicated there had been no incidents recorded which related to 
‘Brexit’ and he emphasised they would continue to work with all local communities.

RESOLVED
That the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel noted the 
performance outcomes of the Safer Solihull Local Police and 
Crime Board for Quarter 1 2016-2017.

8. FUTURE MEETING DATES
The Panel agreed the following meeting dates for the rest of the municipal year (all meetings 
to start at 6pm):
1st November
9th February
17th April

Page 8



SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

Report to: Solihull Safer Communtiites Scutiny 

Meeting date: Tuesday 1st November 

Subject/Report Title: SOLIHULLL RESTORATIVE JUSTICE HUB 

Report from: Solihull Intgerated Offeder Management 

Report Author/Lead 
Contact Officer:

Paul Foster and Pali Obhi 

Wards affected:  All Wards

 Bickenhill  Blythe

 Castle Bromwich  Chelmsley Wood

 Dorridge/Hockley Heath  Elmdon

 Kingshurst/Fordbridge  Knowle

 Lyndon  Meriden

 Olton  Shirley East

 Shirley South  Shirley West

 Silhill  Smith's Wood

 St Alphege

Public/Private 
report:

Public

Exempt by virtue of 
Paragraph:

N/A

1. Purpose of Report
1.1 To provide scrutiny with an update on the collaborative Restorative Justice Hub that 

will commence in Solihull from November 2016, as a three month pilot

2. Decision(s) Recommended

2.1 Project scope to be noted by the scrutiny panel 

3. Background
The Youth Justice Board, National Police Chief’s Council, and the Restorative Justice 
Council, state that restorative justice (RJ) provides opportunities for those directly affected 
by an offence -  the victim, offender and members of the community - to communicate, and 
agree how to deal with the offence and its consequences.  Recognised positive outcomes 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



from the promotion and use of RJ include:  
 Reduction in reoffending
 Reduction in crime and disorder, including anti-social behaviour (ASB)
 Increased victim participation and satisfaction 
 Reduction in  the number of children, young people and adults entering the criminal 

justice system

Local Context: 
There is a commitment within Solihull to develop a pro-active approach to reducing demand 
and preventing offending through restorative practices and a recognition that a more 
coordinated multi-agency approach, than which currently operates, offers the best value for 
money and service to the public.  Solihull Integrated Offender Management (IOM) Police 
Unit, Solihull Youth Offending Service (YOS), Solihull Community Rehabilitation Company 
(CRC) and Solihull Community Housing (SCH) are proposing the development of a RJ Hub.  

The benefits as outlined above are key priorities for agencies working within Solihull and 
are in support of the objectives outlined in the strategic assessment of the Safer Solihull 
Board.  Each agency recognises that a coordinated approach is required to deliver RJ 
within Solihull.   

The project proposal is two-fold; firstly the development of a dedicated RJ Hub and 
secondly the delivery of RJ in relation to Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB). 

Restorative Justice Project Outline – Pilot RJ Hub: 
Drawing on the success of the multi-agency partnership between West Midlands Police in 
Birmingham and Midland Heart, Solihull Police Integrated Offender Manager Unit, Solihull 
Community Housing, Solihull Community Rehabilitation Team, and Solihull Youth Offending 
Service are looking to extend this model into Solihull.  

The aim of the pilot will be to enable victims to meet or communicate with their offender, to 
explain the real impact of the crime in order to prevent (further) harm and conflict, and/or 
activities that repair harm where conflicts have already arisen, and reduce demand on given 
resources.  
The RJ hub will focus on delivering against three key objectives: 

 Increase victim satisfaction
 Reduce Re/offending
 Reduce Demand

A key focus of the project will be on first time entrants (FTE’s) that are aged between 10-25 
years old.  This specific cohort of young people has been identified due to the 40% increase 
in FTE’s in Solihull within Youth Justice and an acknowledgement of the need to reduce 
demand within the 10-25 year age group.  Within this category will be included, for 
example, those subjected to Out of Court Disposals (OOCD), local resolutions and youth 
conditional cautions.  

The RJ Hub will primarily focus in the North of the Borough, as Youth Offending and Police 
Crime Statistics identify this as where the most need is required.  However this will be 
subject to the needs identified by the project.

The dedicated unit will initially comprise of staff resource from West Midlands Police 
(WMP), YOT and Solihull CRC with a commitment to focus solely on RJ and victim work in 
line with each organisations’ service delivery.  It is anticipated for the pilot to commence in 
Autumn 2016 and will initially be set up for 3 months.  Staff resourcing will come from within 

Page 10



existing resources within each service area.  Each service will recruit for internal 
expressions of interests for the post.  In total there will initially be 3 full time equivalent posts 
working within the RJ Hub.

The 3 posts will come together under the existing governance arrangements of Integrated 
Offender Management within Solihull.  The hub will operate from Chelmsley Police Station, 
however there is a recognition that the hub staff will be required to link in very closely with 
their parent organisation during their working week.  Day to day management of the 
individuals will remain under existing structures, however the team will be matrix managed 
between IOM and YOT. 

Although it is widely acknowledged that RJ is proven to have a positive impact, to measure 
the success of the pilot the objectives will be measured through a mixture of qualitative and 
quantitative data.   To this end, the following objectives will be measured:

 Increased victim satisfaction through evaluation including an increase in number of 
victims being offered a RJ service and an increase in the uptake of RJ.

 Tracking desistance and recidivism/reoffending in offenders through the reoffending 
toolkit provided by the Youth Justice Board. 

It is also intended the pilot has the following outputs and outcomes:
 Decrease in the number of first time entrants and reoffending for the specified cohort
 Reduction in demand (there is a caveat to this expectation, in that 3 months may be 

too short a timescale to evidence this)
 To identify learning for future multi-agency modelling
 To create referral mechanisms (it is intended that the staff proactively seek RJ 

opportunities, but there is also a need to develop wider understanding amongst 
colleagues around potential RJ cases and how these could be referred)

 Understand the value for each organisation

The team will utilise the management information systems from within the YOT, IOM, WMP 
and CRC to identify the relevant victims.  The team will ensure that operational procedures, 
pathways and quality assurance processes are in place within the first week to ensure that 
the delivery meets the objectives and effective evaluation of the pilot is enabled.  

ASB delivery: 
Whilst the evidence around a dedicated unit is accepted, current resource and SCH/WMP 
restructures make it difficult at this stage to commit any other resource to the dedicated unit 
to focus on ASB; links, however, will be formed between the Unit and the front-line 
neighbourhood staff and Local Problem Solving Meetings.

In the meantime it is recognised that there are some staff trained to RJ levels 1 and 2 that 
are not utilising the training; that opportunities for RJ are not being identified and there is 
definite scope for a more effective RJ approach to reducing ASB and noise nuisance.  SCH 
restructure has presented the opportunity to upskill staff over the summer/autumn period 
and this will be done jointly with other neighbourhood police and front line colleagues 
attending the Local Problem Solving Meetings.

Governance:
Operational oversight for the project will be managed through a sub-group of the IOM 
Operational Group, including, IOM Team, Police SCH and YOT.  The group will meet 
monthly to oversee project delivery and map these against the operational plan.  The terms 
of reference will be regularly reviewed as the pilot evolves. Ultimately the Operational 
Group will feed into the Strategic IOM Board (Prevent agenda) and the Safer Solihull Board.

Page 11



Evaluation: 
In January 2017 an evaluation of the project will be undertaken by the three agencies that 
will produce a report to capture the outcome of the project.   

4. Evaluation of Alternative Option(s) 

4.1 N/A 

5. Reasons for Recommending Preferred Option

5.1 N/A 

6. Scrutiny

6.1 This is to assist the scrutiny panel in understanding the project scope for Restorative 
Justice Hub in Solihull 

7. Implications

7.1 Policy/Strategy Implications: 

The project outlined in the report above supports the principle aims of the council to 
deliver the following priorities: 

Improve Health and Wellbeing
Build Stronger Communities

Deliver Value
More specifically it supports the following key programmes within the above priorities
Greater service integration to reduce demand
Invest in priority communities with a focus on North Solihull;
Maintaining and investing in the public realm;
Prevention and Early Help Services for children/adults 

7.2 Meeting the duty to involve  

The duty to involve both victims and service users is integral to delivery of the key 
programmes under each Priority

7.3 Financial Implications
During the period of the pilot the project will be financially supported within existing 
available resources. However there will be financial implications to each service area 
once the pilot is complete. Each service area will need to present cost benefit 
analysis to scope future viable funding streams to senior leadership.  Reducing 
offending and reoffending saves public expenditure in the long terms with youth 
remands costing the following: 

The SCH price will change from £555 to £559.
The STC price will change from £529 to £497.
The YOI price will change from £158 to £177.

7.4 Legal implications

None identified

7.5 Risk Implications

Page 12



None identified

7.6 Statutory Equality Duty

None identified 

7.7 Carbon Management/Environmental

None identified 

7.8 Partner Organisations

The restorative justice pilot is a collaborative project which is resourced by the 
Council’s Youth Offending Service, Police, the Community Rehabilitation Company 
and Solihull Community Housing reflecting commitment to prevention, early 
intervention and demand reduction within all partners.

7.9 Safeguarding/Corporate Parenting Implications

Applying restorative approaches in practice is a proven approach to having a positive 
impact on safeguarding and corporate parenting including the reduction of young 
juveniles who are also known to other services such as looked after young people, 
children on care order and open to plans.  

7.10 Customer Impact

Restorative approaches are proven to having positive impact on victims and young 
people who have offended in respect of repairing the harm and feeling safer and 
being heard. 

7.11 Other implications

None known 

8. List of Appendices Referred to

8.1 None

9. Background Papers Used to Compile this Report

9.1 In Care, Out of trouble – Prisons Reform Trust 

10. List of Other Relevant Documents

 Restorative Justice Council

 Victims Code Review 

 National Standards for Youth Justice Services

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



RESTORATIVE JUSTICE ACTION PLAN FOR THE 
CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM FOR THE PERIOD 
TO MARCH 2018

November 2014
Page 25



2014 RESTORATIVE JUSTICE ACTION PLAN FOR THE CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM

November 2014      2          

THE VISION
The Ministry of Justice’s (MoJ) vision is for good quality, 
victim-focused restorative justice (RJ) to be available at all 
stages of the criminal justice system1 (CJS) in England and 
Wales. Success will mean that: 

• Victims have equal access to RJ at all stages of 
the CJS irrespective of their location, the age of the 
offender or offence committed against them; 

• People have an awareness and understanding of RJ, 
it’s benefits, what it entails and how to access it; and

• Good quality RJ is delivered by trained facilitators. 

We will measure success using a range of mechanisms 
including:

• Monitoring RJ provision through on-going 
engagement with Police and Crime Commissioners 
(PCCs);

• Monitoring take up of the Restorative Justice Council’s 
restorative services standards and restorative services 
quality mark;

• Working with the Victims’ Commissioner to monitor 
compliance with the relevant requirements in the 
Victims’ Code; and

• Continuing to work with the Restorative Justice 
Council to understand the extent and nature of RJ 
provision and build on research which has attempted 
to provide a benchmark. 

Judging success, at a national level, by the number RJ 
activities undertaken is not considered appropriate at 
this point in time. Data on the use of RJ is not collected 
centrally and introducing a new system would increase 
administrative burdens. But more importantly, there are 
concerns that data collection of this type could have 
unintended consequences: RJ activities should take place 
with the consent of both the victim and the offender and 
when a trained facilitator has made an assessment that it 
would be appropriate. 

1 By this we mean RJ is available to victims where an offender 
receives an out-of-court disposal, after an offender has been 
convicted, but before the offender is sentenced and while an 
offender is serving a sentence.

Page 26



2014 RESTORATIVE JUSTICE ACTION PLAN FOR THE CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM

November 2014      3          

THIS ACTION PLAN
This is the third RJ action plan for the CJS; the first was 
published in November 2012. This plan takes account of 
the evolving criminal justice landscape, the significant 
progress already made in the development of RJ provision 
and the need for the MoJ and other organisations to  
adapt their roles to support RJ development in this  
new environment. 

This plan acknowledges MoJ’s changing role within the 
sector and includes actions that MoJ and its agencies can 
deliver as well as actions where MoJ will influence and 
support others in delivery. There are a number of emerging 
and upcoming issues which may necessitate changes to 
the action plan and addendums may be published during 
the year, for example:

• Emerging findings from the out of court disposal pilot;

• Awarding of Community Rehabilitation Company 
contracts;

• PCCs implementation of community remedy 
documents which may contain RJ element;

• Transposition of the EU Victims’ Directive by 
November 2015;

• Proposals to introduce a Victims’ Law.

SCOPE AND TIMESCALE
This action plan sets out how the MoJ will achieve its 
vision. In order to deliver it, the MoJ will need to work 
with PCCs, the National Offender Management Service, 
Community Rehabilitation Companies, the National 
Probation Service, prisons and the youth custodial estate, 
the Youth Justice Board for England and Wales, youth 
offending teams, the police and voluntary, community and 
social enterprise sector organisations working with victims 
and/or offenders.

This plan covers the period to 31 March 2018. It sets  
out overarching objectives supported by detailed  
actions for the period November 20142 to March 2016. 
Detailed actions may be refocused during the year as  
the new landscape continues to bed in. In addition it will 
be reviewed and updated on an annual basis, when a  
progress report and updated action plan will be published. 

DEFINITION 
For the purposes of this action plan, the MoJ defines RJ as 
the process that brings those harmed by crime, and those 
responsible for the harm, into communication, enabling 
everyone affected by a particular incident to play a part in 
repairing the harm and finding a positive way forward. 

RJ offers victims an opportunity to be heard and to have 
a say in the resolution of offences, including agreeing 
rehabilitative or reparative activity for the offender.  
It can provide a means of closure and enable the victim  
to move on.

RJ also provides an opportunity for offenders to face the 
consequences of their actions, recognise the impact that  
it has had upon others and where possible make amends. 
In this way, RJ has the potential to help rehabilitate 
offenders and enable them to stop offending. It has 
the potential to motivate them to change and become 
responsible, law-abiding and productive members  
of society.

The MoJ definition of RJ is based on the definition set out 
by Braithwaite3. The fundamental element is the dialogue 
between the victim and the offender. In other sectors, for 
example, education terms such as restorative practice may 
be used to describe this process.  

Programmes which involve ‘proxy’ victims, ie a victim  
of a similar offence, or introduce offenders to RJ principles 
do not fall within the MoJ definition. Such programmes 
may, however, be useful preparation for an offender’s 
participation in RJ. 

2 The previous RJ action plans for the criminal justice operated from November to November (to coincide with International RJ week). This first iteration of the new 
action plan regulates that position, moving to a financial year.

3 ‘Restorative justice is a process where all the stakeholders affected by an injustice have an opportunity to discuss how they have been affected by the injustice 
and to decide what should be done to repair the harm. With crime, restorative justice is about the idea that because crime hurts, justice should heal. It follows that 
conversations with those who have been hurt and with those who have afflicted the harm must be central to the process.’ The Good Society Volume 13, No.1 2004.

Page 27



2014 RESTORATIVE JUSTICE ACTION PLAN FOR THE CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM

November 2014      4          

BUILDING ON THE 
SUCCESS OF PREVIOUS 
ACTION PLANS
This third action plan builds on the successes of its 
predecessors. Key developments and successes since  
2012 include:

• Almost £30million of additional revenue raised 
from offenders has been made available to fund RJ 
provision over the three years 2013/14 - 2015/16. 

• Of this almost £23million has been allocated to PCCs 
to build RJ capacity and capability, and where that is 
sufficient to deliver pre-sentence and victim-initiated 
RJ. This funding has been provided as part of the grant 
to PCCs in relation to their new role to deliver services 
to victims. This action plan assumes that PCCs will 
continue to deliver victim services going forward.

• Just under £2.5million has been allocated to the  
Youth Justice Board to build capability in Youth 
Offending Teams. 

• Ongoing delivery of the Transforming Rehabilitation 
programme meaning that commissioning and delivery 
of RJ also now involves the National Probation Service 
and Community Rehabilitation Companies, as well  
as the continuing role of prisons and Youth  
Offending Teams. 

• Implementation of a new Victims’ Code in December 
2013 which includes for the first time, a requirement 
for victims of adult offenders to be provided with 
information about RJ and to be referred to services 
where these exist.

• Provisions in the Crime and Courts Act 2013 make it 
explicit that the courts can use their existing power 
to defer sentence post-conviction to allow for a RJ 
activity to take place.

• Provisions in the Offender Rehabilitation Act 
2014 make it explicit that a rehabilitation activity 
requirement can include RJ.

• Launch of the RJ Council’s restorative service 
standards and the restorative services 
quality mark (RSQM).

KEY AREAS FOR THE 
CURRENT ACTION PLAN
The key areas of focus and desired outcomes of the action 
plan will be:

1. Equal access – RJ is available to victims at all stages 
of the criminal justice system irrespective of whether 
the offender in the case is an adult or a young person 
and irrespective of where in the country the victim 
lives and where the offender is located. Victims should 
not be denied RJ because of the offence committed 
against them.

2. Awareness and understanding – People are aware of 
RJ and its potential benefits (particularly for victims). 
They understand what RJ entails and its place in 
the CJS. Victims and offenders can make informed 
decisions about participating in RJ and know how to 
access it.

3. Good quality – RJ is safe, competent and focused on 
the needs of the victim. RJ is always delivered by a 
facilitator trained to recognised standards and only 
takes place where an assessment by the facilitator 
indicates that this would be an appropriate course 
of action for all relevant parties with a particular 
emphasis on ensuring there is no revictimisation. 

Page 28



2014 RESTORATIVE JUSTICE ACTION PLAN FOR THE CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM

November 2014      5          

1. EQUAL ACCESS
Objective 1.1: to ensure RJ is available to victims at all 
stages of the CJS irrespective of: whether the offender in 
the case is an adult or a young person; where in England 
and Wales the victim lives; and the offence committed 
against the victim. 

Actions:
A. Advise, support and provide tools/guidance to 

PCCs and the Association of Police and Crime 
Commissioners on the design and development 
of RJ services and act as a conduit for highlighting 
and sharing good practice and to report on 
progress and present findings by March 2015.

B. Advise, support and provide tools/guidance to 
PCCs once their commissioned RJ services are  
up and running to identify and address any 
barriers to delivery of RJ (including data sharing) 
and to report on progress and present findings  
by March 2016.

C. Map and review current learning/research 
evidence in relation to the use of RJ in serious and 
complexes in conjunction with the Experts on 
Restorative Justice Group and to present findings 
by March 2016.

D. Ensure prisons provide a supportive environment 
for RJ which allows Community Rehabilitation 
Companies and new providers commissioned by 
PCCs to deliver victim-offender conferencing (RJ) 
where the offender is in custody and to report on 
progress by 2016.

E. Further develop, support and monitor the wider 
use of RJ and the increased involvement of victims 
within the youth justice system, including out of 
court, pre-sentence and post-sentence RJ and to 
report on progress by March 2016. 

F. Working alongside the MoJ out-of-court disposals 
review team, ensure that RJ is appropriately 
used and monitored as part of the out-of-court 
disposals pilot so that RJ is fully embedded within 
the out-of-court arena and is understood and 
used appropriately by police officers. Pilot runs to 
November 2015.

2. AWARENESS AND 
UNDERSTANDING
Objective 2.1: to raise awareness of RJ and its potential 
benefits and ensure a consistent understanding of what 
RJ entails and its place in the CJS (messages to reach key 
target groups including victims, offenders, criminal justice 
policy developers, leaders and practitioners, the media and 
the general public).

Actions:
A. Develop key messages and produce and deliver 

a communications strategy which identifies 
the best means of sharing the key messages 
incorporating lessons learned from previous 
campaigns and includes appropriate measures 
 of success and deliver by November 2015,

B. Produce a clear definition of RJ and its fit 
 within the wider CJS with a focus on the terms 
government use which are often confused with or 
relate to RJ such as community resolution working 
with colleagues across the MoJ, Home Office 
and other organisations, including the police and 
deliver by November 2015. 

C. Identify opportunities to develop relationships 
and share learning with other government 
departments and relevant organisations (such as 
Local Government Association). This may lead to 
future actions. 

Objective 2.2: to work with PCCs, NPS, YJB and prisons 
to ensure that local mechanisms are in place to so that 
victims and offenders know how to access RJ and can 
make informed decisions about participating in RJ.

Actions:
A. Advise, support and provide tools/guidance to 

PCCs/police to ensure that mechanisms to refer 
victims to relevant services include RJ, taking 
account of the requirements of the 2013 Victims’ 
Code and any recommendations arising from 
reviews of compliance with the Code and to 
report on progress and present findings by  
March 2016.

Page 29



2014 RESTORATIVE JUSTICE ACTION PLAN FOR THE CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM

November 2014      6          

3. GOOD QUALITY
Objective 3.1: to ensure RJ is safe, competent (in line 
with the EU directive on victims’ rights), focused on the 
needs of the victim and delivered by a facilitator trained to 
recognised standards so that it only takes place where an 
assessment by the facilitator indicates that this would be 
an appropriate course of action for all relevant parties.

Actions:
A. Address mixed RJ practice within the police by 

developing new guidance on RJ which provides 
greater clarity on the use of RJ at all stages of the 
CJS taking account in particular of the outcomes 
of the recent MoJ review of out of court disposals. 
Guidance to be published by June 2015.

B. Raise standards within the CJS by working with 
stakeholders to promote the Restorative Justice 
Council’s Restorative Services Standards and 
Restorative Services Quality Mark and encourage 
take up by organisations involved in the delivery 
of RJ and to report on progress by October 2015.

C. Establish an RJ Experts Group (with an open 
and transparent mechanism to determine 
membership) to identify and test good practice 
and obtain expert feedback and recommendations 
in relation to the Restorative Justice Action 
Plan for the CJS and emerging topics and issues 
relating to RJ. The first meeting of the group to 
take place in January 2015.

D. Identify opportunities and utilise levers available 
to MoJ, such as grant conditions and contract 
management, to influence commissioners of RJ 
services to commission services that deliver safe 
and competent RJ and to report on progress by 
March 2016. 

Page 30



Ministry of Justice © Crown copyright 2014 
www.justice.gov.uk

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	5 Restorative Justice in the West Midlands
	Restorative Justice report Annex 6
	restorative-justice-action-plan-2014




